
UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENT AL PROTECTION AGENCY 

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20460 

EXTERNAL CIVIL RIGHT COMPLIANCE OFFICE 
OFFICE OF GENERAL COUNSEL 

January 19, 2017 

Return Receipt Requested 	 In Reply Refer to: 
Certified Mail# 70153010000112675195 	 EPA File No. 09R-02-R6 

Butch Tongate 
Secretary-Designate 
New Mexico Environment Department 
1190 St. Francis Dr., Suite N4050 
Santa Fe, NM 87505 

Dear Secretary-Designate Tongate: 

This letter is to inform you that the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency' s (EPA) External 
Civil Rights Compliance Office (ECRCO) is resolving this complaint based on the enclosed 
Informal Resolution Agreement (Agreement) entered into between EPA and the New Mexico 
Environment Department (NMED). On June 27, 2005, EPA accepted complaint No. 09R-02-R6, 
which alleged discrimination based on race and national origin in violation ofTitle VI and EPA 
regulation at 40 C.F.R. Part 7 relating to NMED's issuance of a treatment, storage and disposal 
permit to Gandy-Marley, Inc. (GMI) on March 18, 2002. Specifically, the allegations accepted 
for investigation were: 

• 	 Whether NMED failed to require or perform a scientific investigation into possible 
disparate impacts; 

• 	 Whether NMED failed to ensure that limited-English proficient Spanish speaking 
residents were provided a meaningful opportunity for effective public participation 
(through use of notice of public hearings and interpretation and translation services) in 
the permitting process; and 

• 	 Whether NMED has a statewide pattern and practice of similar discriminatory permitting 
and lack of access for limited-English proficient residents to the public participation and 
permitting process. 

During the course ofEPA's investigation, NMED agreed to enter into an Informal Resolution 
Agreement in order to resolve this complaint. 1 The enclosed Agreement is entered into by the 

1 See ECRCO's Case Resolution Manual regarding informal resolution ofcomplaints, at 
https://www.epa.gov/sitestproduction/files '2017-0 I/documents/final epa ogc ecrco cnn january 11 2017.pdf . 
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NMED and the EPA pursuant to the authority granted to EPA under the federal 
nondiscrimination laws, including Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, and EPA regulation 
found at 40 C.F.R. Part 7. It resolves complaint No. 09R-02-R6 and additional concerns 
identified by EPA. It is understood that the Agreement does not constitute an admission by 
NMED or a finding by EPA of violations of 40 C.F.R. Part 7. 

The enclosed Agreement does not affect NMED's continuing responsibility to comply with Title 
VI or other federal non-discrimination laws and EP A's regulation at 40 C.F .R. Part 7 nor does it 
affect EP A's investigation of any Title VI or other federal civil rights complaints or address any 
other matter not covered by this Agreement. This letter sets forth ECRCO's disposition of the 
complaint. This letter is not a formal statement of ECRCO policy and should not be relied upon, 
cited, or construed as such. 

ECRCO is committed to working with NMED as it implements the provisions of the Agreement. 
ECRCO appreciates NMED's cooperation in this matter and its efforts to ensure that NMED has 
in place the appropriate foundational elements of a non-discrimination program. If you have any 
questions, please feel free to contact me at (202) 564-9649, by e-mail at dorka.lilian@epa.gov, or 
U.S. mail at U.S. EPA, Office of General Counsel, External Civil Rights Compliance Office 
(Mail Code 23 lOA), 1200 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Washington, D.C., 20460. 

Lilian S. Dorka 
Director 
External Civil Rights Compliance Office 
Office of General Counsel 

Cc: 

Elise Packard 
Associate General Counsel Civil Rights & Finance Law Office 
U.S. EPA Office of General Counsel 

Samuel Coleman, P.E. 

Deputy Regional Administrator and Deputy Civil Rights Official 

U.S. EPA Region 6 

Enclosure 
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UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY 

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20460 

EXTERNAL CIVIL RIOHT COMPLIANCE OFFICE 
OFFICE OF GENERAL COUNSEL 

INFORMAL RESOLUTION AGREEMENT 
between the 


NEW MEXICO ENVIROMENT DEPARTMENT 

and the 


UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENT AL PROTECTION AGENCY 

ECRCO Complaint No. 09R-02·R6 


I. PURPOSE AND JURISDICTION 

A. 	 Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000d to 2000d·7 (Title VI), 
and United States Environmental Protection Agency's (EPA) regulalions at 40 C.F.R. 
Part 7 prohibit discrimination on the basis ofrace, color, or national origin in any 
programs or activities receiving federal financial assistance. The New Mexico 
Environmental Department (NMED) is a rccipient1 offederal financial assistance 
from the EPA and is subject to the provisions ofTitle VI and 40 C.F.R. Part 7. 

B. 	On June 27, 2005, EPA accepted complaint No. 09R·02·R6 brought under Title VI 
and EPA's regulations at 40 C.F.R. Part 7 that alleged discrimination based on race 
and national origin in violation ofTitle VI. In response to the complaint, EPA began 
an investigation ofNMED's compliance with Title VI and EPA regulations. During 
the course of EPA's investigation. NMED agreed to enter into this Informal 
Resolution Agreement (Agreement) in order to resolve this complaint. 

C. 	 This Agreement is entered into by NMED and the EPA's External Civil Rights 
Compliance Office (ECRCO). 

D. 	 This Agreement is entered into pursuant to the authority granted to EPA under the 
federal nondiscrimination laws, including Title VJ of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 
and EPA regulations found at 40 C.F.R. Part 7. It resolves complaint No. 09R-02·R6 
and additional concerns identified by EPA. It is understood that this Agreement does 
not constitute an admission by NMED or a finding by EPA ofviolations of40 C.F.R. 
Part 7. 

E. 	 NMED is committed to carrying out its responsibilities in a nondiscriminatory 
manner, in accordance with the requirements ofTitle VI and the other federal non· 
discrimination laws enforced by EPA regulation at 40 C.F.R. Part 7. The activities 

1 Throughout this lnfonnal Resolution Agreement, ..Recipient" refers to NMED. 
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detailed in Section Ill of this Agreement, which NMED has voluntarily agreed to 
undertake and implement, are in furtherance of this commitment. 

II. BACKGROUND 

A. 	On June 27, 2005, EPA accepted complaint No. 09R-02-R6, that alleged 
discrimination based on race and national origin in violation ofTitle VI and EPA 
regulation at 40 C.F.R. Part 7 relating to the issuance ofa treaunent, storage and 
disposal (TSO) pennit to Gandy-Marley, Inc. (GM1) on March 18, 2002. The 
complaint alleged that NMED failed to require or perform a scientific investigation 
into possible disparate impacts; failed to ensure that limited-English proficient 
Spanish speaking residents were provided a meaningful opportunity for effective 
public participation (through use ofnotice ofpublic hearings and interpretation and 
translation services) in the permitting process; and has a statewide pattern and 
practice ofsimilar discriminatory permitting and lack ofaccess for limited-English 
proficient residents to the public participation and permitting process. 

B. 	 In response to this complaint, EPA initiated an investigation ofNMED's compliance 
with Title VI and EPA regulations at 40 C.F.R. Part 7. 

C. 	 In addition, during the course ofthe investigation, EPA reviewed the requirements of 
40 C.F .R. Part 7, Subpart D that are foundational elements ofa recipient's non
discrimination program and are required for all recipient programs and activities. 
These include: the designation of at least one person to coordinate its efforts to 
comply with its non-discrimination obligations under 40 C.F.R. § 7.85(g); adoption of 
grievance procedures that assure the prompt and fair resolution ofcomplaints alleging 
civil rights violations under 40 C.F.R. § 7.90; and, continuing notice ofnon
discrimination under 40 C.F.R. § 7.95. 

D. 	Consistent with the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (RCRA), as amended, 
42 U.S.C. §§ 6901 et seq., the New Mexico Hazardous Waste Act (HWA), NMSA 
1978, §§ 74-4-1 to -14, and the associated Hazardous Waste Management regulations, 
20.4.1 NMAC, incorporate by reference, among other things, the RCRA 
implementing federal regulations found at 40 CFR Part 270 - EPA Administered 
Permit Programs: the Hazardous Waste Permit Program. NMED adheres to the 
permitting process contained within RCRA. correlated federal regulations, the HWA 
and the Hazardous Waste Management regulations. 

E. 	On March 18, 2002, NMED issued for the first time a Hazardous Waste Facility 
Permit to GMl, (RCRA Permit No NMOOOl 002484).for the storage, treatment, and 
disposal ofhazardous waste at its proposed facility in southeastern New Mexico. The 
proposed facility was to be located on approximately 480 acres of land in Chaves 
County.2 The Triassic Park Waste Disposal Facility was not constructed under this 
pennit3 

2 NMED Triassic Park ~ttl>' 1 '""* env,om cov }IWBlr5?emJJuml(May 10, 2016). 
1 https://www.env.nm.gov/HWB/documentsfTraissicPark-Public:NoticeofReceiptofAppicatlon 11-29-2011 .pdf. 
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F. 	 On October 17, 2011, GMI submitted to NMED a hazardous waste pennit renewal 
application for the Triassic Park Waste Disposal Facility (Facility). The renewal 
application proposes a significantly scaled back facility, removing the storage and 
treabnent component ofthe existing permit, but retaining the ability to dispose of 
hazardous waste in the proposed hazardous waste landfill. On November 29, 2011, 
GMI published in major local newspapers that the October 17, 2011 hazardous waste 
pennit renewal application had been submitted to NMED and that it was available for 
public review. The notice explained that no action or decision was proposed by 
NMED at that time regarding the permit renewal application. 

G. 	 NMED issued a Jetter to GMI on March 14, 2012, indicating that the permit 
application was determined to be administratively incomplete. On April 30, 2012, 
GMI submitted a revised permit application to address deficiencies in the NMED 
Notice of Administrative Incompleteness letter. On May 17, 2012, NMED 
determined the application to be administratively complete. 

H. 	 On February 5, 2013, NMED issued a Disapproval Letter to the Permittee on the Part 
A and B Renewal Application. On July 5, 2013, GMI submitted a revised permit 
application to address deficiencies in the NMED February 5, 2013 Notice of 
Disapproval Letter.4 

/. 	 On June 12, 2016, NMED issued Public Notice 16-07, "Notice of Public Comment 
Period and Opportunity to Request a Public Hearing on a Draft Hazardous Waste 
Permit for Triassic Park Waste Disposal Facility, EPA ID Nwnber: 
NM0001002484." The notice stated NMED's intent to issue a Hazardous Waste 
Pennit to GMI as the owner and operator of the Facility to dispose ofha7.8rdous 
waste under RCRA and the HWA. The 60-day comment period was to run from June 
15, 2016, through August 14, 2016. During the comment period, any person could 
submit a request for a public hearing. 5 

J. 	 On August 1, 2016, after communications with ECRCO, NMED agreed to extend the 
public comment period and translate the Fact Sheet into Spanish. 

K.. 	 On August 12, 2016, NMED issued Public Notice 16-10, "Notice ofExtended Public 
Comment Period on a Draft Hazardous Waste Permit for Triassic Park Waste 
Disposal Facility, EPA ID Number: NM0001002484." This notice extended the 
period for public comment or to request a public hearing to November 18, 2016. The 
notice also stated that NMED would issue a future notice announcing a public 
meeting to be held during the extended comment period.6 Public Notice 16-10 was 
sent out in English and Spanish to NMED's mailing list for the Pennit; posted in local 
newspapers (Roswell Daily Record, Albuquerque Journal and the Carlsbad Current 

4 NMED Tria.uic Park~-~,cnv nm eov liWB IppmD html 

'NMED Triassic Park bllP' www my,om aov/HWB Jppam html (August. 16 2016) 

6 NMED Triassic Park bnpi www mv t'lm 19v/HWBlppt!rn.t! (August, 16 2016) 
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Argus) in both English and Spanish; read on KUNM radio station in both English and 
Spanish; and posted in 25 locations in 7 communities. 

L. 	 Also, NMED posted the pennit Fact Sheet in Spanish on NMED's website and made 
it available for review in the Roswell Field Office (1914 W. Second, Roswen, NM 
88201), Phone (575) 624-6046). NMED also provided a copy directly to Citizens for 
Alternatives to Radioactive Dwnping (CARD). 

M 	NMED held an infonnational public meeting on the permit on October 22, 2016 in 
Roswell, NM. At this meeting, members of the community were able to discuss their 
concerns regarding the permitting of the facility. NMED provided simultaneous 
interpretation in Spanish for the entire meeting. Hard copies of the presentation, the 
Fact Sheet (English and Spanish versions), the Administrative Record Index and the 
Public Notice (English and Spanish versions) were provided to meeting participants. 

N. 	 NMED posted a copy of the presentation from the October 22, 2016 Public 
Information meeting on its website.7 

0. 	On November I, 2016, after communications with ECRCO, NMED agreed to extend 
the public comment period for an additional 60 days, post the Fact Sheets (English 
and Spanish versions) at 23 different locations, announce the public notice on severaJ 
radio stations identified by Complainants, and publish the notice in the local 
newspapers. 

P. 	 The extended comment period will end on January 20, 2017 at 5:00 PM. NMED sent 
a third Public Notice in English and Spanish to the Hazardous Waste Bureau's 
notification list for Triassic Park notifying stakeholders of the extension. 

Q. 	 NMED posted the third Public Notice and Fact Sheet (English and Spanish versions) 
at the locations identified in Posting Locationsfor Triassic Park Permit Notices (See 
attachment) 8 as well as NMED's district office in Roswell (1914 W. Second Street, 
Roswell, NM 88201/Phone (575) 624-6046) and the Roswell Public Library located 
at 301 N. Pennsylvania Ave., Roswell, New Mexico. 

1 bops "'.,..,. m~ nnuovl!WB OOcliC!SIJtl/'Pµbl!C\1SC'll'!lsrrrr&llUDnQ!!TnV' P rtlH2·lQ16 pdO 
1 With the following exceptions: 

L Tbe Artesia Post OIT'tce wouldn't allow NMEO to post die Public Notices and Fact Sheet. However, post office 
staffaccepted the documents in case the Post Mesler made an exception 

b 	 The Talum post Office wouldn't allow NMED to post the Public Notices and Fact Sheet. Previously, the o.frtc:e 
was unmanned and so NMED was able to leave copies ofthe Public Nolices and Fact Shc:ct. However. this time 
NMED was not l:fllltcd permission IO post the documents. 

c. 	 The Roswell post offices wouldn't allow NMED to post the Public Notices and Fact Sheet, but NMED was able 
to leave copic$ al the warehouse building. 

d. 	 The Cumberland Cooperative Waler Users Association on Hobson Road is now closed. so NMED was unable IO 

post the Public Notices or Fact Sheet at this location 
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R. 	 NMED sent the third Public Notice (Spanish and English versions) to KENW 89.59, 
KBIM 94.9, and KALN 96. l radio stations to be read as a public service 
announcement (PSA). 

S. 	 NMED subsequently purchased 25 spots on KBIM 94.9. A commercial will run 
during the following time periods: I 0 spots - between 11128 - 1216; 7 spots - between 
12130 - 115; 8 spots - between 1/14-1120. 10 

T. 	 On November 17, 2016, NMED published11 the third Public Notice in three 
newspapers12: Albuquerque Journal, Roswell Daily Record, and Carlsbad Current 
Argus. 13 

U. 	 In addition, NMED clarified that, as stated in Section 2.5.2 (Prohibited Waste 
Streams) ofthe Triassic Park Disposal Facility draft permit, radioactive wastes14 are 
prohibited from disposal at the facility. 

V. 	 NMED stated that an exposure evaluation was conducted for Triassic Park Waste 
Disposal Facility EPA ID Number. NM0001002484 as required by 40 C.F.R. §270.10 
(j). Also, NMED clarified that Triassic Park Waste Disposal Facility's pennit 
application contains the necessary components in accordance with the HWA and 
correlated Hazardous Waste Management regulations, which incorporate the federal 
RCRA regulations. 

Ill. SPECIFIC NMED COMMITMENTS 

A. 	 Specific Actions Related to Hazardous Waste Permits 

Triassic Facility 

1. NMED has confinned that it has carefully reviewed the pending pennit 
application and detennined that the application contains all necessary 

9 NMEO requested to purchase radio spots on KENW 89.S. However, KENW, does not sell advertising because 
they are a public radio station. NMED stated that KENW 89.5 did agree to run the PSA on their Community 
Calendar which runs each day near the noon hour. KENW 89.S also committed to running the PSA on their 
television station and would do their best to "work the announcement into various parts oftheir broadcast day" until 
January 2~. NMED stated that KENW 89.S declined to broadcast lhe PSA in Spanish because: I) K.ENW doesn't 
broadcast in Spanish and 2) "that's not their audience" (see attached email chain becween NMED's Communications 
Director and the radio station). 
'° NMED attempted to purchase spots on KALN 96.l, but did not receive a response from the station. 
II Albuquerque Journal (btm 1cpl3 lhqjown1l qp.J<y ••IT • ]!ZU)); Roswell Daily Record 
(DEm i/wwv. publjcnptkc ii som'NM gwtlv11p •ll•PN&ld• lQ99 1I172Q16 2Ufr..J' bun>; C11rlsbad Current Arps 
Chem. nl!I zibhmmj1 c!14a.cpm'SM smti.~iew ai!f~~ - 014- ll 172016 23'716124.bpn> - English only 
1: NMED was unable to find a Spanish-only periodical near the proposed facility. 

1>Public Notices usually appear in the classified sect.ion ofthese newspapers on the day of Issuance. 

14 RCRA Permit Number: NM0001002414 NMED: Radiooctivc/nuclcar materials regulated by the NMED and defined in 

20.3.14.7 NMAC; or othct nanirally occurring materials which contain l'ldioectivity concenllllions above the concentration 

levels regulated under 20.3 14 NMAC. as specified in Permit AUKhmcnaFl, Rationale ror Analytical Panmctcr Section; or 

materials rcguJlllcd under the Atomic EnCflY Act of l9S4, as amended (including source. special 1n1c:lcar materials, and 

byproduca materials as deliMd in I 0 CFR § 20.1003). Page 2S 
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components ofprnuit applications as required by 40 C.F.R. §270.10, including 
Section (j) related to Hexposure information"1and any necessary foUow~up has 
and will be tnken to ensure protection ofhuman health and the environment. 

2. 	 At the close of the public comment period on January 20, 2017. NMED will 
review all public comments and \v:ill consider holding a public hearing prior to 
reaching a final decision regarding issuance of the permiL Nt>.-lED will respond 
to coillJnents at a public hearing. ifa public bearing ls held, and, if the permit is 
issued, at the time of issuance through a formal "Response to Comments.". 

3. 	 NMED will continue to notify Complainants; in English and in Spanish. about 
opportunities for public comment and other important actions related to the 
pennitting and operations of the Triassic Park Waste Disposal Facility. 

4. 	 NMED will make any changes it deems necessary to the draft permit based 
upon the public comments received. 

Future Mudfficatio1rs to Permit 

I. If the current pennit is issued. NMED will ensure that the: pennittce follows lhe 
modification requirements established under 40CFR 270.42 for any cl1anges to the 
permit necessary before the 11e11:t permit renewal period. This includes any 
modifications found to be necessary by the pennittee to begin actual construction or 
operation of tbe facility that are not inc1uded in the existing permit at the time of the 
modification. NMED will ensure that any public notice and public participation 
requirements associated with a particular modification are adhered to by both the 
pennittee and NMED. 

z. NMED will continue to monitor the construction and operation ofthe Facility to 
ensure GMI adheres to state and federal rules and any correlated pennit issued by 
NMED. 

3. NMED acknowledges that any future aclioas/decisions regarding whether to 
issue or deny Triassic Park Facility permit modiflCStions, renewals or other permit 
decisions, \Vhen applicable, must be made on the record after public notice, and 
opportuaity musl be given for public comment and the requesting ofa public 
hearing. and in compliance with alJ applicable state and federal regulations. 
including civil rights and language access laws and regulations. 

B. 	 Access Io Vital Inforn1ation Related to Triassic Facility 
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1. 	 NMED will make all reasonable efforts to ensure that all "vital" 15information 
related to the Triassic Facility Permit Process is accessible to LEP persons in a 
language they can understand. If it is not reasonable to translate an entire 
document, NMED must ensure that any vital information contained within such a 
document will be translated. For the current permitting action, this information 
may be added to the existing Triassic Park Facility Fact Sheet, translated into 
Spanish and redistributed to all appropriate facilities as previously identified. 
(See Section II. (Q) above.) 

2. 	 Any vital information regarding the Facility that is readily available to the public 
in English, whether in written form or orally, will, at a minimum, be available to 
the non-English speaking public through a qualified interpreter or through 
translation, depending on the circumstances. NMED is not required to translate all 
documents posted on its Facility-specific website or in the administrative record. 

3. 	 NMED commits to having technical staffavailable to answer questions from the 
public about this permit via phone or e-mail and will answer any questions 
regarding this permit in a language other than English through the timely use ofa 
qualified interpreter provided by NMED. The contact information for such staff 
will be placed on NMED's facility-specific webpage, and on all public notices 
and fact sheets. 

C. 	 Hazardous Waste Permits in General 

a) 	 NMED will ensure that all pennit applications contain necessary components 
as required by 40 C.F.R. §270.10, including Section (j) related to "exposure 
information", and necessary follow-up will be taken to ensure protection of 
human health and the environment. 

Non-Discrimination Procedural Safeguard<; 

NMED is in the process ofreviewing its non-discrimination procedural safeguards and 
taking steps to bring its program into compliance within the timeframe set forth below. 

D. Notice ofNon-Discrimination under the Federal Non-Discrimination Statutes 

1. NMED will post a notice ofnon-discrimination on the NMED website and in 
general publications that are distributed to the public. In order to ensure effective 
communication with the public, NMED will ensure that its notice of non
discrimination is accessible to limited-English proficient individuals and 
individuals with disabilities. 

" Whether or not a document (or the infonnation it disseminates or solicits) Is " viial" may depend upon the 
imponance ofthe program. Information, encounter, or service involved, and the consequence to individual with the 
LEP Ifthe infonnation in question is not provided accurately or in a timely manner. (See EPA's 2004 Guidance to 
Environmental Protection Agmcy Financial Assistance ReclpienlS R~ordlng Title YI Prohibition against National 
Origin Discrimination Affecting Limited English Proficient Individuals at ~qp:1 ·~mo CO\' fdsyJ:'pk&LR·2004
06-2Sl?d0H )'464 pd() 
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2. The notice will contain. at a minimum, the following statements: 

a} NMED does not discriminate on the basis of race. color, national origin, 
disability. age, or sex in the administration of its programs or activities, as 
required by applicable laws and regulations. 

b) NMED is responsible for coordination ofcompliance efforts and receipt of 
inquiries concerning noo~iscrirnination requirements implemented by 40 
C.F.R. Part 7 (Non-discrimination in Programs or Activities Receiving Federal 
Assistance from the Environmental Protection Agency), including Title Vf of 
the Chi! Rights Act of 1%4, as amended; Section 504 ofdie Rehabilitation 
Act of 1973; the Age Discrimination Act of 1975, Title IX of the Education 
Amendments of 1972, and Section 13 ofthe Federal Water Pollution Control 
Act Amendments of 1972 (hereinafter referred to collectively as the federal 
non-discrimination statutes). 

c) Ifyou have any questions about this notice or any ofNMED's non
discrimination programs, policies or procedures, you may contact: 

L [Insert name and title ofNon-Discrimination Coordinator) 
ii. New Mexico Envirorunental Department Address Line 1 
iii. Address Line 2 
iv. 	 Address Line 3 

\'. Phone nwnber 


vi. Email address 

d) If you believe that you have been discriminated against \Vi th respect to a 
NMED program or activity, you may contact the [insert title ofNon
Discrimination Coordinator] identified above or visit our website at [insert] to 
learn how and \Vhere to file a complaint of discrimination. 

3. 	Wi1hin 30 days of the effective date oftbis Agreemen~ NMED will publish its 
notice ofnon-discrimination on its website as specified above. 

E. 	 Grievmu:e Procedures fol' Coniplaint.sfiled under the Federal Non-Discrlminalion 
Slatutes 

l. NMED will ensure that it has widely and prominently published in print and on
line its grievance procedures to process discrimination complaints filed under 
federal non-discrimination statutes. NMED will review the grievance procedures 
ot1 an annual basis (for both in~print and on1ine materials). and revise as 
necessary, to allow for prompt and appropriate handling ofdiscrimination 
complaints. 

2. 	The grievance procedures will nt a minimum address the following: 
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a. 	 Clearly identify the Non-Discriminator Coordinator, including contact 
information; 

b. 	 Explain the role of the Non·Discrimination Coordinator relative to the 
coordination and oversight oftbe grievance procedures; 

c. 	 State who n1ay file a complaint under the procedures; 

d. 	 Describe which fonnal nnd lnfonnal process(es) are available, and the 
options -for complainants in pursuing either; 

e. 	 Explain that an appropriate, prompt and impartial investigation ofany 
allegations filed under federal non-discrimination statutes wil1 be 
conducted. (Whether ECRCO considers complaint investigations and 
resolutions to be "prompt" \vH1 vary depending on the comple1dty oftbe 
investigation and the severity and extent of the alleged discrimination. For 
example, the invesligation and resolution of a complaint involving 
multiple allegations and multiple complainants likely would take longer 
than one involving a single allegation ofdiscrimination and a single 
complainant) 

f. 	 State that the preponderance of the evidence standard will be applied 
during the analysis ofthe complaint; 

g. 	 Contain assurances that retaliation is prohibited and that claims of 
retaliation will be handled promptly; 

h. 	 State that written notice will be promptly provided about the outcome of 
the investigation, including whether discrimination is found and the 
description of the investigation process. 

3. Within 90 days of the effective date of this Agreement, NMED will forward to 
ECRCO a fmal draft ofils grievance procedures for review. ERCCO \Viii review 
the draft procedures and provide any comments within 60 days ofreceipt. 

F. 	 Designation ofa Non-Disr:riminatfcn C.'oordinator 

1. NMED will ensure thal it has designated at least one Non-Discrimination 
Coordinator to ensure NMED's compliance with the federal non-discrimination 
statutes). 

2. 	NMED will ensure 1hat its notice and grievance procedures that it has widely 
published in print and orrHne include the title, email address, telephone number, 
and other contacl information ofthe Non-Discrimination Coordinator. NMED 
will explain the responsibUhies of the Non-Discrimination Coordinator in its 
grievance procedures adopted pursuant 10 Section III, Paragraph c of this 
Agreement. 
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3. NMED will ensure that the Non-Discrimination Coordinator's responsibilities 
include the following: 

a) Providing infonnation to individuals internally and externally regarding their 
right to services, aids, benefits. end participation in any NMED program or 
activity without regard to their race, national origin, color, sex, disability, age 
or prior apposition to discrimination; 

b) Pro,•iding notice ofNMED's formal and informal grievance processes and the 
ability to file a discrimination complaint with NMED; 

c) Establishing grievance policies and procedures or mechanisms (e.g., an 
investigation manual) to ensure that all discrimination complnints filed 'vith 
NMED under federal non-discrimination statutes are processed promptly and 
appropriately. One element ofany policy and procedure or mechanism must 
include meaningful access for limited-English proficient lndividuals and 
individuals with disabilities to NMED programs and activities; 

d) Ensuring the tracking ofall discrimination complaints filed with NMED under 
federal non-discrimination statutes. including any patterns or systemic 
problems; 

e) Conducting a semiannual review of a'll formal and informal discrimination 
complaints filed with the NMED Non-Discrimination Coordinator under 
federal non..(liscrimination statutes and/or any other complaints independently 
investigated by NMED in order to identify and address any patterns or 
systemic problemsj 

I) Informing and advising NMED staff regarding NMED's obligations lo comply 
\vith federal non-discrimination statutes and seive as a resource on such issucsj 

g) Ensuring that complainants are updated on the progress oftheir discrimination 
complaints filed with NMED under federal non~di.scrimination statutes and are 
promptly informed as to aay detenninations made; 

h) Periodically evaluating the efficacy ofNMEO' s efforts to provide services, 
aids, benefits, and participation in any NMED program or activity without 
regard to race, nntinnal origin, color, sex. disability. age or prior opposition to 
discrimination; 

i) 	Ensuring appropriate training in the formal and informal processes available to 
resoJve complaints ftled under federal non-discrimination statutes; nnd, 
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j) 	 Providing or procuring appropriate services io ensure NMED employees are 
appropriately trained on NMED non..Wscrimination policies and procedures, 
as well ns the nature of the federal non-discriinination obligations. 

4. The Non-Discrimination Coordinator will not have other responsibilities that 
create a conflict of interest (e.g.. serving as the Nocr-Discrimination Coordinator 
as well as NMED legal advisor or representative on civil rights issues); 

5. Within 30 days of the effective date of this Agreement, NMED will have 
designated a Non-Discrimination Coordinalor and provided appropriate public 
notice ofsuch as specified above. 

6. Within 30 days ofappointment ofa Non-Discrimination Coordinator, NMED will 
furwatd 10 ECRCO proofthat tbe responsibilities have been included in the 
incumbent's statement of duties and that the incumbent bas accepted the duties. 

G. 	 Public Partic;patio1i 

I. NMED understands that meaningful public involvement consists of informing. 
consulting and working with pe>tentia1ly affected and affected commwiities at 
various stages of the environmental decision~making process to address their 
needs. See EPA's ECRCO's Public Participation Guidance found at 71 FR 
14,207, 14,210 (Maroh 21, 2006). Therefore, NMED will ensure its public 
involvement process is avnilable to all persons regardless ofrace, color, national 
origin (including limited-English proficiency), age, disability, and sex. 

2. NMED will develop and implement a public participation policy that will require 
NMED to create and/or cany out each step listed in (a) - (i), belo\v, each time 
they engage jn an action that triggers the public participation process. 

a) 	An overvie\v of the Recipient's plan ofaction for addressing the comm.wtity's 
needs and concerns; 

b) A description of the community16 (including demographics, history, and 
background); 

c) A contact list of agency officials with phone numbers and email addresses to 
allow the public to communicate via phone or internet; 

16 In order to idi:n1iry slnkcholdet3 in the o.ffectcd commt1nity. the ~cipicnt 1vill make a conccrti:d effort lo acatvpartncrsbips 
with private nnd public en1i1ics 10 shll:re hlfonnation in addilion lo efforts to shmc information an iU website end through st1tndurd 
mediaoutktS.. Such inrorID!tlon sharing should include communlUes in Ille: relevant geographic area lo the pcrmiacd acth1ty; 
\hose who have prc~iously cxprc55Cd an inl~st in environmental dccilion IJlllking 11ctlvWcs; cm•lronmentand e:nvironrncnu.I 
justice orsonizations; n:liglaus JnstilUlions and organizllilons:. public admh!Jstration, envlrcnm:ntat, h1,w and health de.paranents 
tt colleges 3fld Mi\'tl'llilles: tribal go\'Cf'!UtlCtlU: and relc\1Ult community service orpniz&lions. 
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d) A detailed plan ofaction (outreach activities) Recipient will take to address 
concerns; 

e) A contingency plan for unexpected events; 

t) 	Location(s) where public meetings will be held (consider the availability and 
schedules of public transportation); 

g) Contact names for obtaining language assistance services for limited-English 
proficient persons, including translation of documents and/or interpreters for 
meetings; 

h) Appropriate local media contacts (based on the culture and linguistic needs of 
the community); and 

i) 	 Location of the inftlrmation repository. 

3. 	Within 60 days of the effective date ofthis Agreement, NMED will forward to 
ECRCO a .final draft of its public participation process/procedures for review. 
EPA will review the draft process/procedures and provide any comments within 
60 days of receipt 

H. NMED Plan lo Ensure Access for Persons li•ith Llmited~English Proficiency 

1. NMEO will develop, publish, and implement written procedures to ensure 
meaningful access to all ofNMED's programs and activities by all persons, 
including access by lllnited-English proficient individuals and 1ndividuals with 
disabilities at no cost to those individuals. 

2. 	NMED will conduct the appropriate analysis described in EPA's LBP Guidance 
found at 69 FR 35602 (lune 25, 2004) and http;/lwww.lep.gov to determine what 
language services it may need to provide to ensW'C that limited-English proficient 
individuals can meaningfully participate in the process. NMED should develop a 
language access plan consistent lvith the details found in ECRCO's training 
module for LEP. http;//www.elJ!!.gov/civi!right!llepacc~ss.btm 

3. 	Within 60 days of the effective date ofthis Agreement, NMED will forward to 
ECRCO a fmal draft of its written procedures to ensure meaningful access to a.II 
ofNMED's programs and activities by all persons, including access by limited
English proficient indMduals and individuals with disabilities. ECRCO will 
review the draft procedures and provide any comments within 60 days of receipt. 

J. NMED Plan to Ensure Acce3·sfor Persons with Disabilities: 

1. NMED will provide at no cost apprOpriate auxiliary aids and services including. 
for example, qualified interpreters to individuals who are deaf or hard ofhearing, 
and to other individuals as necessary to ensure effective communication or an 
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equal opportunity to participate fully in the benefits, activities, programs and 
services provided by NMED in a timely manner and in such a \Vay as to protect 
the privacy and independence of the individual, 

2. 	Within 60 days of the effective date of this Agreement, NMED will forward to 
ECRCO a fmal draft of its written procedures to ensure meaningful access to all 
ofNMED's programs and activities by individuals with disabilities. ECRCO will 
review the draft procedures and provide any comments \.vithln 60 days ofreceipt 

H. Training 

i. 	 Within I 20 days after the effective date of the deliverables identified in this 
Agreement,. including fulfilling the requirements for a Non-Discrimination 
Coordinator, Non-Discrimination Notice, Grievance Procedures, ood Public 
Participation Process/Procedures, NMED will certify that all appropriate 
staff have been trained on U1ese processes and procedures and on the nature 
of the federal non--discrinUnation obligations. 

ii. 	 Within 90 days after execution of this Agreement, NMED will forward to 
ECRCO the plan that NMED 'viU put in place to ensure that such training is 
a routine part of annual or refresher training to appropriate staff. 

IV. GENERAL 

A. 	 In consideration ofNMED' s implemeatation ofcommitments and actions described 
in Section Ill of this Agreement, EPA will end its investigation of the complaint No. 
09R-02-R6 and not issue a decision containing findings on the merits of the 
complaint 

B. 	 EPA will, upon request, provide technical assistance to NMED regarding any of the 
civil rights obligations previously referenced. 

C. 	 EPA \viii review and provide feedback about any docwnentation submitted by 
NMED demonstrating completion of each commitment (e.g., evidence ofpublication 
of the designation oft.he Non-Discriminalion Coordinator) and wiU provide an 
assessment as to whether the documentation satisfies tl1e commitment. 

D. 	 NMED will report the completion ofeach commitment identified under Section Ill 
consistent with the timcfr1UDes in Section JII by certified mail to the Director, EPA 
External Civil Rights Compliance Office (Mail Code 231 OA), 1200 Pennsylvania 
Avenue N.W., Washington D.C. 20460. within 30 days of the completion by NMED 
ofeach commiunent. 

E. 	 EPA will monitor the implementation ofthe commitments in this Agreement ta 
ensure they are fuUy implemented. Once the terms of this Agreement are satisfied, 

13 




EPA will issue a letter documenting closure of its monitoring actions in complaint 
No. 09R-02-R6 and closure of1he complaint as of the date ofthat letter. 

V. COMPUTATION OF TIME AND NOTICE 

A. 	 As used in this Agreement, "day" shall mean a calendar day. In computing any 
period of time under this Agreement, where the last day would fall on a Saturday, 
Sunday, 01 federal holiday, the period shall run until the close of business of the next 
working day. 

B. 	 Service ofany documeots required by this Agreeau:nt shall be made per.;onally, by 
certified mail \vith return receipt requested, or by any reliable commercial delivery 
service that provides \vritten verification ofdelivery. 

C. 	 Documents submitted by NMED to EPA shall be sent to the Director, U.S. EPA 
External Civil Rights Compliance Office (Mail Code 2310A), 1200 Pennsylvania 
Avenue N.W., Washiagton D.C. 2046-0. 

D. 	 Documents submitted by EPA to NMED shali be sent to the Cabinet Secretary, State 
ofNew Mexico Environment Department, Harold Runnels Building, 1190 St Francis 
Dr., Suite N4050, Santa Fe, NM, 87505, or for U.S. Postal Service, Cabinet 
Secretary, New Mexico Environment Department, P.O. Box 5469. Santa Fe. New 
Mexico 87502. 

VJ. EFFECT OF THE AGREEMENT 

A. 	 NMED understands that by signing this Agreement, it agrees to provide data and 
other information in a timely manner in accordance wilh the reporting requirements 
of thls Agreement. Further. NMED understands that during the monitoring of th.is 
Agreement., ifnecessary, EPA may visit NMED, inrerview staff, and request such 
additional reports or data as are necessary for EPA to determine whether NMED has 
fu(filJed the fenns of1his Agreement and is in compliance with EPA regulations 
implementing the federal non-discrimination requirements in 40 C.F.R Part. 7, which 
were at issue in this case. 

B. 	 NMED understands that EPA will close its monitoring of this Agreement when EPA 
detetmineS that NMED has fully implemented this Agreement and that a failure to 
satisfy any term in this agreement may result in EPA re-q>ening lhe investigation. 

C. 	 If either Party desires to modify any portion ofthis Agreement because ofchanged 
conditions making performance impractical or impossible, or due to material change 
to NMED's program or authorities, or for other good cause. tbe Party seeking a 
modification shall promptly notify the other in writing, setting forth 1he facts and 
circumstance justifying the proposed modification. Any modification(s) to this 
Agreement shall take effect only upon written agreement by the Direcror ofNMED 
and the Director of EPA. 
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~-l-1Ji... 
Butch Tongate 

1/l'I ft7 
(Date) 

Secretary· Designate 

D. 	 This Agreement constitutes the entire Agreement between NMED and EPA regarding 
the matters addressed herein, and no other statement, promise, or agreement, made by 
any other person shaJI be construed to change any commibnent or term of this 
Agreement, except as specifically agreed to by NMED and EPA in accordance with 
the provisions ofSection VI. Paragraph c above. 

E. 	 This Agreement does not affect NMED's continuing responsibility to comply with 
Title VI or other federal non-discrimination laws and EPA's regulations at 40 CFR 
Part 7, including § 7.85, nor does it affect EPA's investigation of any Title VI or other 
federal civil rights complaints or address any other matter not covered by this 
Agreement. 

F. 	 The effective date of this Agreement is the date by which both Parties have signed the 
Agreement. This Agreement may be signed in counterparts. The Cabinet Secretary, 
in his capacity as an official ofNMED, has the authority to enter into this Agreement 
for purposes ofcarrying out the activities listed in these paragraphs. The Director of 
ECRCO has the authority to enter into this Agreement. 

On behalfofthe New Mexico Environmental Department, 

Director 
External Civil rughts Compliance Office 
Office ofGeneral Counsel 
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